
Pension Board
Agenda

To: Michael Ellsmore (Chair)

Councillor Richard Elliott, Teresa Fritz, Ava Watt, David Whickman and 
Maggie Mansell

A meeting of the Pension Board which you are hereby summoned to attend, will be 
held on Thursday, 10 January 2019 at 2.00 pm in F10 - Town Hall 

JACQUELINE HARRIS BAKER
Director of Law and Governance
London Borough of Croydon
Bernard Weatherill House
8 Mint Walk, Croydon CR0 1EA

Annette Wiles 0208 8726 6000 x64877
annette.wiles@croydon.gov.uk
www.croydon.gov.uk/meetings
Wednesday, 2 January 2019

Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting.  
If you require any assistance, please contact the person detailed above, on the 
righthand side. 

N.B This meeting will be paperless. The agenda can be accessed online at 
www.croydon.gov.uk/meetings

Public Document Pack



AGENDA – PART A

1.  Apologies for Absence 
To receive any apologies for absence from any members of the Board.

2.  Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 6)
To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 15 November 2018 as 
an accurate record.

3.  Disclosure of Interests 
In accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct and the statutory 
provisions of the Localism Act, Members and co-opted Members of the 
Council are reminded that it is a requirement to register disclosable 
pecuniary interests (DPIs) and gifts and hospitality to the value of which 
exceeds £50 or multiple gifts and/or instances of hospitality with a 
cumulative value of £50 or more when received from a single donor 
within a rolling twelve month period. In addition, Members and co-opted 
Members are reminded that unless their disclosable pecuniary interest 
is registered on the register of interests or is the subject of a pending 
notification to the Monitoring Officer, they are required to disclose those 
disclosable pecuniary interests at the meeting. This should be done by 
completing the Disclosure of Interest form and handing it to the 
Democratic Services representative at the start of the meeting. The 
Chair will then invite Members to make their disclosure orally at the 
commencement of Agenda item 3. Completed disclosure forms will be 
provided to the Monitoring Officer for inclusion on the Register of 
Members’ Interests.

4.  Urgent Business (if any) 
To receive notice of any business not on the agenda which in the 
opinion of the Chair, by reason of special circumstances, be considered 
as a matter of urgency.

5.  Update report 
This item will provide the latest information on KPIs, staffing and 
datascores.

Report to follow.

6.  Asset transfer (Pages 7 - 40)
An update will be provided on the Asset Transfer following this being 
considered by the Pension Committee at its meeting on 21 November 
2018.

7.  Forward plan (Pages 41 - 44)



3

This item will include a review of policy documents.

8.  Scheme Advisory Board Horizon Scanning (Pages 45 - 52)
This item will look at various issues that impact on the administration of 
the Local Government Pension Scheme.

9.  London CIV update (Pages 53 - 56)
This will provide an update on progress towards fulfilling the Pension 
Fund’s commitment to invest through the London CIV as part of the 
regional pooling agenda.

10.  Training review (Pages 57 - 60)
A review of the Pension Board’s training programme to enable it to 
effectively support the work of the scheme administrator.

11.  Exclusion of the Press and Public 
The following motion is to be moved and seconded where it is proposed 
to exclude the press and public from the remainder of a meeting:

“That, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act, 1972, the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information falling within those paragraphs indicated in Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended.”

PART B

12.  Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Part B) (Pages 61 - 64)
To approve the minutes (Part B) of the meeting held on 15 November 
2018 as an accurate record.

13.  Asset transfer (Part B) (Pages 65 - 76)
Provision of the exempt (Part B) appendices to the Asset Transfer item 
above (see item 6).



This page is intentionally left blank



Pension Board

Meeting of the Pension Board held on Thursday, 15 November 2018 at 2.00 pm in F12 - Town 
Hall

MINUTES

Present: Michael Ellsmore (Chair)
Richard Elliott
Teresa Fritz
David Whickman
Councillor Maggie Mansell

Also 
Present:

Nigel Cook, Head of Treasury and Pensions
Lisa Taylor, Director of Finance, Investment and Risk (Deputy S151 Officer)

PART A

54/18  Minutes of the Previous Meeting

The minutes of the meeting held on 18 October 2018 were agreed as an 
accurate record. It was noted that Kevin Cullen’s name would be amended to 
be correctly stated.

55/18  Disclosure of Interests

There were no disclosures of pecuniary interest made.

The Chair reported he had taken advice regarding the management of 
conflicts of interest. This had clarified that conflicts were to be managed but 
not necessarily avoided. The Chair reminded the members of the Pension 
Board that its role was to look after the interests of the administering body of 
the Pension Fund by ensuring proper governance, advice and safeguards.

56/18  Urgent Business (if any)

There were no items of urgent business.

57/18  London Borough of Croydon Pension Fund Property Transfer Proposal

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



It was agreed to take all discussion of the Property Transfer Proposal in Part 
B of the agenda.

58/18  Exclusion of the Press and Public

“That, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act, 1972, the press 
and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business 
on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information 
falling within those paragraphs indicated in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972, as amended.”

The motion was put and it was agreed by the Committee to exclude the press 
and public for the remainder of the meeting.

59/18  London Borough of Croydon Pension Fund Property Transfer Proposal 
(Part B)

RESOLVED: The Board resolved to give authority to the Chair to write to the 
Pension Fund administrator on its behalf detailing the points raised regarding 
the Property Transfer Proposal.

The meeting ended at 3.30 pm

Signed:

Date:

Page 6



LPB 10012019

Croydon Council

REPORT TO: Local Pension Board
10 January 2019

SUBJECT: London Borough of Croydon Pension Fund: Property 
Asset Transfer Proposal Response

LEAD OFFICER: Nigel Cook Head of Pensions and Treasury

CORPORATE PRIORITY/POLICY CONTEXT: 
Sound Financial Management: 
The Pension Committee is responsible for the investment strategy for the Pension 
Fund and ultimately for ensuring sufficient assets are available to meet the liabilities 
of the Local Government Pension Scheme in the long run.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY:
This proposal has significant implications for the Council and the Pension Fund and 
will impact on the level of contributions required of the Council.  

1. RECOMMENDATIONS

1.1 To note the response by the Pensions Board to the proposal to transfer 
assets to the Pension Fund, in the form of a letter drafted to the Executive 
Director of Resources (S. 151 Officer) in his capacity as Scheme 
Administrator for the Local Government Pension Scheme.

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

2.1 This report provides the Board with a copy of a letter detailing the Board’s concerns 
around the proposal to transfer assets to the Pension Committee, to the Executive 
Director of Resources (S. 151 Officer) in his capacity as Scheme Administrator for 
the Local Government Pension Scheme.

3 DETAIL

3.1 The Council has developed a proposal to transfer certain housing assets to the 
Pension Fund at some future point in time, about 40 years hence.  The Scheme 
Actuary has agreed that this would improve the funding level of the Council’s 
notional share of the Fund and thus have the immediate effect of driving down the 
requirement for the Council to make a deficit contribution.  In advance of the 
Pension Committee considering this the Pension Board discussed this matter in 
some detail and raised a number of issues. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



LPB 10012019

3.2 The report to the Pension Committee is appended to this paper as Appendix A.  
This report was discussed by the Pensions Board at its meeting on 15th November, 
2018 in advance of the Pensions Committee considering the same report on the 
21st November, 2018.

3.3 The Board resolved to give the Chair authority to write to the Pension Fund 
administrator on its behalf detailing the points raised regarding the Property 
Transfer Proposal. 

3.4 This letter is appended to this report for information as Appendix B. 

4 FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

4.1 There are no financial considerations for this report.

CONTACT OFFICER:  

Nigel Cook, Head of Pensions Investment and Treasury, 
Resources department, ext. 62552.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:

None

Appendices

Appendix A
Report to the London Borough of Croydon Pension Fund: Property Transfer Proposal.  
21 November 2018. (Exempt appendices are provided in Part B of this agenda.)

Appendix B
Letter to Richard Simpson, Executive Director of Resources, from the Chair of the 
Pension Board. 

Page 8



PEN 05062018

Croydon Council

REPORT TO: Pension Committee
21 November 2018

AGENDA ITEM:

SUBJECT: London Borough of Croydon Pension Fund: Property 
Transfer Proposal

LEAD OFFICER: Richard Simpson, Executive Director Resources and 
Section 151 Officer

CABINET 
MEMBER

Councillor Simon Hall
Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources 

WARDS: All

CORPORATE PRIORITY/POLICY CONTEXT: 
Sound Financial Management: The Pension Committee is responsible for the 
investment strategy for the Pension Fund and ultimately for ensuring sufficient assets 
are available to meet the liabilities of the Local Government Pension Scheme.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY:
This proposal has implications for the Council and the Pension Fund and will impact 
on the level of contributions required of the Council.  

FORWARD PLAN KEY DECISION REFERENCE NO.:  N/A

1. RECOMMENDATIONS

1.1 The Committee is asked to agree to receive into the Pension Fund, the 346 
housing properties as set out in paragraph 3.1, from Croydon Council, 
between November 2057 and April 2059. 

1.2 As a consequence of recommendation 1.1 the Committee is further asked 
to agree the proposal to adjust Croydon Council’s employer contribution 
rates to take account of the future transfer of properties. This would be 
based on assumed growth of CPI + 1.7% in the properties, which would 
result in a reduction of approx. 2.5% in the council’s employer deficit 
contributions. This would be reviewed and adjusted if required in the tri-
annual valuation.

1.3 The Committee should note that this proposal to transfer these assets from 
the Council’s General Fund to the Pension fund in 40 years needs to be 
agreed by a future meeting of the full Council and so the Committee is further 
asked to delegate to the Council’s s151 Officer in consultation with the 
Chairman of the Pension Committee to agree the appropriate wording of 
such a recommendation to ensure that all necessary protections for the 

Page 9



PEN 05062018

Council both generally and as Administering Authority are included.. 

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

2.1 This report provides the context for the work that has been undertaken to appraise 
the proposal to transfer certain property assets into the Pension Fund in the future 
and reduce Croydon Council’s employer contributions as a result.

3 DETAIL

3.1 This report provides the Committee with an update on progress to deliver the 
proposal to transfer 96 properties, purchased by the Council in 2013 and 2014, 
plus additional properties currently being acquired to bring the total to 346 
properties, in total currently valued in excess of £100 million, into the Pension 
Fund.  The Pension Committee received an earlier report at its meeting of 5th June 
2018, which is Appendix A to this report, and delegated to the Executive Director 
of Resources authority to obtain specialist advice, including in relation to the legal 
implications and risks, and develop appropriate proposals regarding the asset 
transfer initiative with a view to providing a comprehensive report to a later meeting 
for consideration. 

3.2 This report sets out this updated proposal with comments on the relevant legal 
issues relating to the proposal.  The Scheme Actuary has been consulted at each 
stage as to how this might work and the impact upon the Fund valuation and 
contribution rates and their original thinking is reflected in a report considered by 
the Pension Committee at its meeting of 5th June, 2018 and this paper is appended 
to this report together with the paper, dated January 2018, that Hymans Robertson 
drafted.

3.3 As stated earlier, the purpose of this exercise is to more effectively deploy the 
assets of the Council to manage contribution rates.  In return for the transfer of 
property assets in 40 years’ time, the Council has requested a reduction in its total 
contribution rate of between 1% and 3% of pay.  The Actuary has calculated what 
annual growth in property value would be required to support these reductions 
without leaving the Fund worse off after 40 years.  The required annual property 
growth rates in Table 1 below are based on the provided property portfolio value 
in excess of £100m, and use the data, methodology and assumptions outlined in 
the Actuary’s paper dated 5 January 2018, Appendix B.

3.4 All of the calculations assume that the arrangements begin on 31 March 2016 (i.e. 
the assumptions are based on market conditions at that date, the Council payroll 
is assumed to be £120m as it was at that date, and the assumed transfer of 
property assets is assumed to happen on 31 March 2056, etc.).  However, as all 
assumptions are inflation-linked the results will likely stay relatively stable with 
changing market conditions.  Aside from the calculations, there are two separate 
leases, with two separate sets of dates and this will need to be reflected in the 
decision required to execute this proposal.  For the sake of clarity the first lease 
runs from 1 November 2017 from the break option from November 2057.  The 

Page 10



PEN 05062018

second lease will run from March / April 2019 with the break option available in 
2059.

Table 1 Contribution Reduction

Reduction in Croydon 
Council contribution 

rate (% of pay)

Required annual growth in value of 
property portfolio (% p.a. in 

excess of expected CPI 
inflation)

1% (0.7%)
2% 1.0%
3% 2.0%

3.5 The Pension Fund and Council will take advice in order to ensure that the required 
annual growth rate for any agreed contribution rate reduction is suitably prudent 
and appropriate for the property portfolio in question.  For comparison, the ‘best 
estimate’ investment return for the Fund’s invested assets over 20 years (as used 
in the modelling carried out for the 2016 valuation) was CPI + 3.5% pa. Within this 
assumption the ‘best estimate’ return over 20 years for the diversified property 
assets held by the Fund was CPI + 1.7% pa.  Further details are given on page 14 
of the attached 5 January 2018 paper (Appendix B).

3.6 From the Actuary’s perspective, although the property portfolio to be transferred 
to the Fund is very specific, their view is that none of the required annual property 
growth values seem imprudent.  Therefore, provided the assumption was part of 
an overall agreement that was satisfactory to the Fund, the Scheme Actuary would 
have no objection to a reduction in contribution rates in the range 1% to 3%.  
However, the higher the assumed rate of property growth the greater the risk borne 
by the Fund, and the greater the risk that an adjustment to contributions may be 
required from the Council if the property portfolio does not grow in value as 
expected over the forty year period. 

3.7 Members should refer to the 5th June 2018 report for details of the development of 
the options considered and for a fuller treatment of the risks associated with this 
scheme.  In broad terms four options were worked up and distilled to the 
recommendation presented here.  For members who are interested in the 
development of this proposal the current recommendation possesses 
characteristics of options 3 and 4 in the earlier report, as outlined in paragraph 
3.17 below.

3.8 Mercers, as the Pensions Fund’s professional, independent investment advisors, 
have considered the property transfer proposal, based on their understanding of it 
from the Hymans Robertson note (see Appendix B to this report).  Noting that there 
is a lot involved in this proposal, they advise that the Committee consider:

• If the calculation basis for assessing the reduction in contributions is 
reasonable for the risk taken by the Fund.

• That there is sufficient flexibility to review the terms of the structure as time 
progresses.

• The impact on the cashflow position of the Fund and if action needs to be 
taken to lessen the risk of the Fund being in a cashflow negative position.

Page 11



PEN 05062018

3.9 The Council have discussed with their legal advisors, Eversheds Sutherland, 
whether the transfer of assets can be effected under the LGPS Regulations.  
These discussions excluded considerations of actuarial, taxation or accounting 
issues.  The considered response is that Croydon Council can pursue this option 
within the remit of the current Local Government Pension Scheme (Management 
and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 and that if this transfer were to occur 
today the properties could be considered assets of the Pension Fund.  The 
mechanism to check the adequacy of the Council’s contributions, as proposed by 
the Scheme Actuary, should mitigate some of the risk relating to the future transfer 
of the properties.  This would take the form of a specific triennial valuation of these 
assets, aligned with the formal triennial actuarial valuation.  The existing 
smoothing mechanism, applied to contributions, would continue to apply.  

3.10 Because the Council is both the scheme employer and the administering authority, 
the normal ways of securing such a proposal from a third party do not apply as the 
Council, as a single legal entity, cannot contract with itself or charge its own assets 
to itself. The Council would have to pass a resolution to agree to transfer the 
properties in the future.  The properties proposed to transfer to the Pension Fund 
are being leased by the Council to an LLP for 40 years. The Council has the option 
to terminate the leases at the end of that period and then to transfer the properties 
from its general accounts to the accounts of the Pension Fund so they would then 
become an asset of the Pension Fund at that stage. Set out in Appendix C. 

Background

3.11 Under the terms of an existing agreement, with the local charity Croydon 
Affordable Housing, the Council has set up a limited liability partnership Croydon 
Affordable Homes LLP, (CAHLLP) to lease properties to it on a long-term basis.  
CAHLLP manages and maintains the properties, collects rent, and pays any 
surplus income to the Council as rent under the lease agreement.  Under the terms 
of this proposal, at year 40, the Council has the option to exercise a break clause 
in the lease agreements whereby the properties would return, fully maintained and 
unencumbered with debt, to the Council.  The proposal is that, at that point, the 
Council will transfer the properties to the accounts of the Pension Fund and so at 
that point the properties would become assets of the Pension Fund and allocated 
to the Council’s notional share of assets in the Pension Fund. The Pension Fund 
could then decide to sell the properties or it is possible that the lease to CAHLLP 
could continue albeit that any rental income would then be paid to the Pension 
Fund.   

3.12 There is a local authority precedent for this proposal.  The London Borough of 
Bromley has set up a similar arrangement with the London Borough of Bromley 
Pension Fund. Under this arrangement, approved in June / July 2016, a scheme 
of 400 properties will be transferred to the Bromley Fund after 40 years and paid 
into Bromley Council’s notional section of the Fund (subject to certain conditions).  
In return, Bromley Council will see savings of up to £1.7m per year from 2017/2018 
via reduced pension contributions.  

3.13 The most recent formal valuation of the Croydon Fund was carried out as at 31 
March 2016.  At that date the Council was estimated to be in deficit by 
approximately £291m, as shown in the table below.

Page 12



PEN 05062018

Table 2 Croydon Council Ongoing Funding Position

Croydon Council
Ongoing funding position

31 March 2016
£million

Liabilities 1,038
Assets 745
Surplus/(deficit) (291)
Funding level 72%

3.14 As set out in the Fund’s Funding Strategy Statement, dated February 2017, the 
objective of the Council’s contribution strategy is for its assets to equal its liabilities 
in approximately 3 in 4 economic scenarios modelled after a period of 22 years 
(based on the Fund’s ongoing valuation assumptions).  In other words, employer 
contributions are set to achieve a c.75% probability of meeting the target 100% 
funding level in 22 years.

3.15 To allow greater stability and cost certainty for the Council over the 22 year period, 
any increases in Council contributions are limited to 1% of pay p.a.  At the 2016 
valuation the contribution rates payable by the Council were reviewed in line with 
the Fund’s funding strategy.  It was agreed that contributions would remain at 
25.2% of pay for 2017/18 and 2018/19 and would increase by 1% of pay to 26.2% 
in 2019/20.   Subsequently, the Council made a £33.2m lump sum “prepayment” 
in March 2017 which served to reduce the contributions payable over the three 
year period.  The final certified rates from the 2016 valuation were therefore as 
follows:

Table 3 Contribution Rates

Croydon Council certified 
contribution rates
Year ending 31 March

Before prepayment
(% of pay)

As certified
(% of pay)

2018 25.2% 15.1%
2019 25.2% 15.1%
2020 26.2% 16.1%

3.16 In the initial work to investigate the proposal, the Fund Actuary, Hymans 
Robertson, described four possible methods for allowing for the property transfer 
in the Council’s funding strategy but noted these were not the only possible ways 
of allowing for the transfer.  These options were presented to the Committee in the 
agenda of the 5 June, 2018 meeting.  That report is appended to this item as 
Appendix A.

3.17 These options have been appraised and a recommendation, based on this 
analysis, is presented here.  A fixed reduction is applied to the Council deficit repair 
contribution rate.  The reduction is calculated such that the value of replaced 
contributions is equal to the estimated value of the property assets transferring to 
the Pension Fund in 40 years’ time, so that the Pension Fund is theoretically no 
worse off after 40 years than if it had continued to receive contributions.  This 
arrangement is represented by the equation below:

Property value today * assumed rate of property growth over 40 years
= 

Contributions replaced (for agreed period) * assumed investment return over 40 yearsPage 13



PEN 05062018

3.18 As can be seen, the size of the contribution rate reduction depends on various 
assumptions, particularly the assumed growth in value of the property assets over 
the 40-year period.  The Council’s proposal is to assume an annual real growth 
rate of CPI + 1.7%. This would result in a reduction to employer contributions of 
an estimated 2.5% of pay per annum.  Table 1, above, refers.  This is illustrated in 
the chart below:

Chart 1 Contribution Rate Reduction

3.19 This proposal implicitly involves the risk of a shortfall caused through the property 
portfolio growing at a lower rate than the assumed amount, equivalent to CPI + 
1.7. 

3.20 Historically, the increase in the value of houses, known as the Housing Price Index 
(HPI), has been substantially higher than CPI.  This is shown in the chart below.

Page 14



PEN 05062018

Chart 2 Comparison of CPI with HPI

Ja
n-

90

Ja
n-

91

Ja
n-

92

Ja
n-

93

Ja
n-

94

Ja
n-

95

Ja
n-

96

Ja
n-

97

Ja
n-

98

Ja
n-

99

Ja
n-

00

Ja
n-

01

Ja
n-

02

Ja
n-

03

Ja
n-

04

Ja
n-

05

Ja
n-

06

Ja
n-

07

Ja
n-

08

Ja
n-

09

Ja
n-

10

Ja
n-

11

Ja
n-

12

Ja
n-

13

Ja
n-

14

Ja
n-

15

Ja
n-

16

Ja
n-

17

Ja
n-

18

-20.00

-15.00

-10.00

-5.00

0.00

5.00

10.00

15.00

20.00

25.00

30.00

35.00

CPI Monthly CPI Average HPI Monthly HPI Average

CPI vs HPI since January 1990

3.21 Since 1990, whilst more volatile than CPI, HPI has averaged 5.04% compared to 
CPI at 2.49%.  This is a margin of 2.55% above CPI compared to the proposed 
assumption of CPI +1.7%.

3.22 It is important to clarify that there are a number of different measures for HPI.  The 
data used above is sourced from the Land Registry All Dwellings Index and 
considers the entire United Kingdom.  Over the same period, the London only 
housing price index averages at 8.41%.  There is clearly risk in estimating HPI in 
to the future, however, in the context of the Bank of England’s long term target for 
CPI of 2%, the relative historic performance of house prices means an assumption 
of CPI + 1.7% is recommended to the Committee.

3.23 Under the proposals to transfer the properties to the Pension Fund, the Council 
would remain as the landlord throughout, both pre and post the transfer of the 
properties to the Pension Fund.  The Council would therefore continue to benefit 
from any provisions in the lease regarding the receipt of periodic information 
relating to the homes to obtain assurance that they are being adequately managed 
and maintained by CAHLLP.  This is to ensure that the value the Council expects 
to receive at the point of the option remains in line with the assumptions made in 
agreeing the reduction.

3.24 In the event that a shortfall emerges the question arises as to when that shortfall 
should be addressed by the Council.  One option is that this should happen at the 
point the break clause in the lease occurs (i.e. after forty years).  This has the 
advantage that over the forty-year period peaks and troughs may broadly cancel 
each other out and the overall return reflect the long-run average and hence be 
close to the working assumption of CPI + 1.7%.  However this would appear 
imprudent, particularly if there is a sustained period of lower-than-expected 
growth.  Also the government actuary or other regulatory bodies might query this 

Page 15



PEN 05062018

arrangement, for example in the next Section 13 report.  

3.25 The proposal is therefore that as part of the Tri-annual valuation the actuary would 
review the performance of the assets and take this into account when calculating 
deficit contributions required from the Council..  

3.26 Chart 3 below sets out an illustration of how this could happen

Chart 3 Illustration of ‘Top-Up’ Mechanism

3.27 An actuarial paper would set out the agreement between the Council and the 
Pension Fund would stipulate how this correction would be applied.  This 
document would include a definition of the trigger described above.  At the moment 
the Committee is asked to agree to this proposal to adjust contribution rates in 
principle, subject to the safeguards in respect of property portfolio valuations, risks, 
additional contributions etc. being addressed to the satisfaction of the Fund 
Officers and their advisers.  

3.28 The Committee should bear in mind that ultimately the Council in its capacity as 
an administering authority is responsible for paying Scheme members’ benefits.  
The Council has an overarching role in ensuring the Pension Fund is sufficient to 
pay members their benefits as they become due.  This recommendations moves 
the Council nearer meeting that obligation.

4 FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

4.1 There are no further financial considerations flowing from this report.

Page 16



PEN 05062018

5. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 

5.1 Other than the considerations referred to above, there are no customer Focus, 
Equalities, Environment and Design, Crime and Disorder or Human Rights 
considerations arising from this report

6. COMMENTS OF THE SOLICITOR TO THE COUNCIL 

6.1 Croydon Council is the ”administering authority” for the Croydon Pension Fund 
(‘the Fund”) which forms part of the Local Government Pension Scheme (“LGPS”). 
The Council is responsible for administering, maintaining and investing the Fund 
in accordance with The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 and 
The Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) 
Regulations 2016. The Council is also a “scheme employer” in relation to the Fund.

6.2 Specialist external legal advice has been procured from Eversheds Sutherland 
(International) LLP in connection with the legal powers of the Council to enter into 
the suggested arrangement and how best this can be accomplished whilst 
providing the necessary protections for the Council. Any decision by both the 
Pension Committee and full Council will need to have full regard to this advice to 
be provided in Part B as an exempt item under Appendix C .

Approved by: Sandra Herbert Head of Litigation and Corporate Law for and on 
behalf of Jacqueline Harris-Baker Director of Law and Governance and Monitoring 
Officer.

CONTACT OFFICER:  

Nigel Cook, Head of Pensions Investment and Treasury, 
Resources department, ext. 62552.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:

None.

Appendices:

Appendix A: 
London Borough of Croydon Pension Fund: Property Transfer Proposal.  Report to the 
Pensions Committee, 5 June 2018.

Appendix B:
Croydon Council property transfer proposal, January 2018.  Hymans Robertson

EXEMPT PAPERS

Appendix C
Advice to the Council in respect of a future transfer of assets to its Pension Fund, 
November 2018, Eversheds Sutherland International LLP (exempt under Schedule 
12A paragraph 5 Local Government Act 1972.

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



PEN 05062018

Croydon Council

REPORT TO: Pension Committee
5 June 2018

AGENDA ITEM:

SUBJECT: London Borough of Croydon Pension Fund: Property 
Transfer Proposal

LEAD OFFICER: Nigel Cook Head of Pensions and Treasury

CABINET 
MEMBER

Councillor Simon Hall
Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources 

WARDS: All

CORPORATE PRIORITY/POLICY CONTEXT: 
Sound Financial Management: The Pension Committee is responsible for the 
investment strategy for the Pension Fund and ultimately for ensuring sufficient assets 
are available to meet the liabilities of the Local Government Pension Scheme.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY:
This proposal has significant implications for the Council and the Pension Fund and 
will impact on the level of contributions required of the Council and other scheme 
employers.  The proposal will also impact on the current and future funding level for 
the Council.

FORWARD PLAN KEY DECISION REFERENCE NO.:  N/A

1. RECOMMENDATIONS

1.1 Note the detail contained within the report and

1.2 Delegate authority to the Executive Director of Resources to obtain 
specialist advice, including in relation to the legal implications and risks, and 
develop appropriate proposals regarding the asset transfer initiative with a view to 
providing a comprehensive report to a later meeting for consideration. 

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

2.1 This report provides the context for the work that has been undertaken to appraise 
the proposal to transfer certain property assets into the Pension Fund and reduce 
contributions as a result.

Page 19



PEN 05062018

3 DETAIL

3.1 This report introduces the Pensions Committee to a proposal to transfer property 
assets to the Pension Fund.  This idea has been developed over a period of time; 
an initial proposal was set out in a paper drafted by the Fund’s Actuary, Hymans 
Robertson, in January 2018, and has subsequently been refined.  This project is 
aligned with the Council’s ambition to identify how the Pension scheme could 
contribute to and invest in the borough.  The Scheme Actuary has drafted a note 
setting out how this might work and the impact upon the Fund valuation and 
contribution rates and this note is appended to this report.

3.2 In conjunction with a local charity, the Council sets up a partnership - Croydon 
Affordable Homes LLP (CAHLLP) - and leases the properties to it on a long-term 
basis in exchange for an agreed payment stream.  CAHLLP manages and 
maintains the properties, collects rent, and pays the agreed amounts to the 
Council.  At year 40, the properties return, fully maintained and unencumbered 
with debt, to the Council.  The proposal is that, at that point the Council would 
immediately transfer ownership of the properties to the Pension Fund.

3.3 The current proposal concerns 346 properties, currently valued at £96.7 million, 
although other similar assets may be considered in due course.

3.4 The initial work on this exercise considered four options whilst noting that there 
might be other alternatives.  

3.5 Option 1 reflected the most prudent approach to allowing for the property transfer 
agreement which would be to allow no contribution reduction until the property 
transfer is completed in year 40.  This could be justified on the basis that the risks 
described below are considered to be so significant that it is undesirable or 
imprudent to allow for it, i.e. the contribution reduction, to happen now.  This 
position could be revisited nearer to the transfer date when the terms and value of 
the transfer are more certain.  This option has the benefits of simplicity and 
prudence, and would be consistent with the existing funding strategy because it 
would involve no change to the existing funding position, certified contributions or 
contribution stabilisation mechanism.  For this reason the probability of meeting 
the funding target would be unchanged.  However, it could be argued that this 
approach is excessively prudent. 

3.6 Option 2 suggests that the existing funding strategy and contribution stabilisation 
mechanism should be left unchanged.  The Fund allows for the property assets in 
the Council’s funding position at future valuations (i.e. they are included in the 
property allocation of the Council’s assets share) and hence in its contribution 
rates.  The market value of the assets would need to be determined at each 
valuation date by an independent valuer.  The additional assets may be enough 
to affect the stabilised contribution rate set at each subsequent valuation 
depending on the funding position and market conditions at the time.  This process 
would be repeated at each future valuation when the contribution strategy is 
reviewed.  It is unlikely that this approach would result in a material contribution 
saving for the Council due to the size of the transfer compared to the Council’s 
assets and liabilities (the market value is equal to about 9% of the Council’s 

Page 20



PEN 05062018

liabilities) and the growth seeking nature of the Fund’s investment strategy.  This 
method has the advantage of requiring little additional actuarial work and of being 
consistent with the existing funding strategy.  The probability of meeting the 
funding target at the end of the 22 year time horizon would be largely unchanged 
(there might be a slight improvement given the increased asset share).

3.7 For Option 3 the Council’s contribution rate would be reduced immediately.  In 
effect, the Fund would be ‘banking’ the value of the property assets now and, in 
return, reducing the future contributions required by the Council.  At each 
subsequent valuation the reduction applied to the Council’s contribution rate would 
be revisited.  This would be practical as the Council’s contribution strategy and 
contribution stabilisation mechanism is reviewed triennially at each formal 
valuation in any case.  The current funding strategy for the Council does not allow 
for any form of contribution reduction and so special dispensation would therefore 
be required if this option was pursued.  This would mean that any reduction in the 
estimated residual value of these assets would have an impact on future cash 
contributions.  

3.8 Under option 3 the Fund would be giving up contributions of a known amount now 
in exchange for the transfer of a very uncertain value of assets in 40 years’ time.  
To give the Fund comfort that it is not taking on excessive risk under such an 
arrangement, the Fund could insist on a retrospective ‘top-up’ arrangement 
whereby the Council agrees to make additional contributions to the Fund if the 
value of the property transfer portfolio increases by less than a specified amount 
over an agreed year time period (e.g. triennially).  The precise details of the ‘top-
up’ could be complex and would need to cover:

 The market value of the property portfolio; 
 Determining the expected value of the property and the contributions that 

would have otherwise been received; 
 ‘Top-up’ payments; and
 Whether the Council should benefit if the value of the property assets 

increased faster than expected (e.g. by being allowed to keep some of the 
proceeds after 40 years).  

3.9 Provided the terms of such an agreement were acceptable to both parties, and 
provided the Council was able to afford any future required top-up payments, this 
option would reduce the risk to the Fund posed by option 3.  However, it may be 
difficult for the Council to accept such an arrangement if it entailed a commitment 
to make unknown top-up payments based on the volatile valuation of the property 
assets.  This inclusion of the retrospective ‘top up’ by the Council would also mean 
that special dispensation within the current funding strategy would not be as 
significant as that required in option 3.  As the Council would periodically top up 
any shortfalls which might occur the probability of meeting the funding target at the 
end of the time horizon is less affected.  This describes Option 4.

3.10 There are a number of risks associated with this proposal which would need to be 
considered and managed.  The following paragraphs address these in a broad 
brush manner but it should be noted that the implications of adopting such an 
approach will require detailed specialist legal advice.  The uncertainties involved 
in the proposal present many risks which can be broadly grouped into the following 
main categories.

Page 21



PEN 05062018

3.10.1. Legal risks - The proposal (and any side agreement affecting contributions) 
may involve legal agreements between the Fund, the Council and other parties 
(such as CRLLP).  Any lack of clarity within those agreements or failure to properly 
articulate responsibilities and risks could lead to substantial problems in future.  In 
addition due consideration needs to be given to the appropriate nature of the 
delivery vehicle/mechanism for such proposals, associated governance 
arrangements in the context of the local government framework and restrictions 
whilst having due regard to the Council’s duties and the potential for conflicts of 
interest to arise not just between the Council and the Fund but also for Members 
involved in the associated decision making.  Such risks need to be fully assessed 
and articulated in order to obtain appropriate advice.  At present there needs to be 
further work undertaken in relation to the options and their implications to assess 
these and other legal impacts and risks to enable informed decision making by 
Members.  

3.10.2. Regulatory risks – The LGPS has experienced many regulatory changes 
recently and there is no reason to expect that it will not experience further change, 
particularly over a time period as long as 40 years.  Future changes could, for 
example, explicitly forbid the kind of arrangement being considered here and it 
could be complex and costly to unwind it.  The Local Government Pension Scheme 
Advisory Board, for example, is already discussing the use of ‘asset-backed 
funding’ which is similar in some ways to the arrangement in question here.  The 
Fund should also consider if the long term (much longer than the Fund’s recovery 
period) and/or unconventional nature of the arrangement might attract scrutiny 
from the Pensions Regulator, Scheme Advisory Board or the Government 
Actuary’s Department, all of whom are now involved in oversight of the LGPS. 

3.10.3. Investment risks – Some of the options discussed above involve making 
assumptions about the future growth in value of the property portfolio and how this 
compares to the value of contributions.  It is very unlikely that these assumptions 
will be borne out in practice and the Fund must understand how it would be 
affected by this.  For example, under options 3 and 4 the Fund will lose out if the 
value of the property portfolio, when transferred to the Fund, is lower than the 
value of contributions that would have been received from the Council instead.  
The Fund would have to consider this in the context of the portfolio as a whole.

3.10.4. Political risks – the Fund may wish to take advice on the suitability of investing 
in UK domestic property given that it is (and is likely to remain) a live political issue 
and may be subject to political action which would affect its value.

3.10.5. Operational risks – the complexity of the arrangement and the number of 
parties potentially involved increases operational risk which would have to be 
considered.

3.10.6 The Fund may wish to consider how it would monitor the operational side of the 
arrangement e.g. request the Council provides regular updates including 
independent valuations, uses of the property assets, rental income, insurance 
protection in place, major repair work, etc.  There is also a likelihood that the 
development of the London CIV would impact on the development of any proposal.  
Any such monitoring should form part of the legal and governance framework put 
in place. 

Page 22



PEN 05062018

3.11 This approach is comparatively novel; although other Boroughs have adopted this 
way of exploiting assets, successfully developing this project will require that 
officers pull in quite specialised advice.  This will include a full appraisal of the four 
options sketched out in this report by the Scheme Actuary as well as 
comprehensive legal and accounting advice.  The preliminary work described in 
this report will need to be tested to ensure that the preferred option is the most 
likely to provide maximum benefit to the authority and address the funding issues 
described above.  Officers consider that the period until the December meeting of 
the Pensions Committee is sufficient for this work to be completed and an 
evidenced and comprehensive report brought to the Committee for its 
consideration, before settling on one of the options described, or indeed a hybrid 
or other option.

3.12 The Committee is asked to delegate authority to the Executive Director for 
Resources to work up the options to a level of completeness such that a 
recommendation can be put for members consideration, having due regard to the 
relevant considerations and risks.   It is envisaged that this would happen in time 
for the December 2018 meeting of this Committee.

4 FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

4.1 There are no further financial considerations flowing from this report.

5. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 

5.1 Other than the considerations referred to above, there are no customer Focus, 
Equalities, Environment and Design, Crime and Disorder or Human Rights 
considerations arising from this report

6. COMMENTS OF THE SOLICITOR TO THE COUNCIL 

6.1 The Solicitor to the Council comments that as part of any proposed delegation to 
officers as per the recommendation in section 1, specialist legal advice will be 
required on the implications and risks, both for the Council and the Pension Fund.  
There is insufficient information available at present in relation to the four options 
referenced above to indicate the areas of risk to an appropriate degree and to 
allow informed decision making on the options.  Accordingly the recommendation 
is for officers to fully explore the options detailed above and obtain relevant 
specialist legal and other advice to present a fully considered set of proposals for 
Committee consideration.

Approved by: Sandra Herbert Head of Litigation and Corporate Law for and on 
behalf of Jacqueline Harris-Baker, Director of Law and Monitoring Officer

CONTACT OFFICER:  

Nigel Cook, Head of Pensions Investment and Treasury, 
Resources department, ext. 62552.

Page 23



PEN 05062018

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:

None

Appendices

Appendix A: 

Croydon Council property transfer proposal, June 2018.  Hymans Robertson

Page 24



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

London Borough of Croydon 

Pension Fund 
Croydon Council property transfer proposal 
January 2018 

Robert McInroy and Richard Warden 

  

Fellows of the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries 

 

For and on behalf of Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

Page 25



 

London Borough of Croydon Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2018 2 

Contents 
 

London Borough of Croydon Pension Fund – Croydon Council property transfer proposal Page 

 

1 Addressee and scope 3 
2 Background 4 
3 Possible options for Council contribution rate reduction 6 
4 Possible impact of property transfer on contribution strategy 8 
5 Risks and other issues to consider 10 
6 Suggested next steps 12 
Appendix A – Data, assumptions and methodology 13 
Appendix B – Reliances and limitations 15 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

  

Page 26



 

London Borough of Croydon Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2018 3 

1 Addressee and scope  

This paper is addressed to Croydon Council (“the Council”) in its role as Administering Authority to the London 

Borough of Croydon Pension Fund (“the Fund”).  Please note our advice is specifically addressed to the 

Administering Authority, therefore we consider the proposal from the Fund’s (not the Council’s) point of view. 

This paper provides the requested information and advice regarding the proposal from the Council to transfer 

ownership of a specified set of property assets to the Fund in 40 years’ time. 

We understand that there is a possibility in the future that additional assets may be transferred to the Fund 

under similar arrangements. For the avoidance of doubt, the information and advice contained within this paper 

relates only to the possible options to allow for the asset transfer detailed in section 2.1 below.  Any additional 

asset transfer proposal should be considered separately. 

This paper may be shared with Jonathan Bunt, of JB Financial Consulting, in his role as special advisor to the 

Council.  It may not be shared with any other party except with our prior written approval, in which case it must 

be shared in full. 

As agreed and set out in our email of 9 November 2017, detailed comments and observations on the practical 

implementation of the arrangement and the key actuarial risks to the Fund are outside the scope of the 

requested advice in this paper. 

Page 27



 

London Borough of Croydon Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2018 4 

2 Background 

2.1 Property transfer arrangement 

We understand that the Council is currently considering the following arrangement, involving 96 properties it 

purchased in 2013 and 2014: 

1. In conjunction with a local charity, the Council sets up Croydon Regeneration LLP (CRLLP) and leases 

the properties to it on a long-term basis in exchange for an agreed payment stream. 

2. CRLLP manages and maintains the properties, collects rent, and pays the agreed amounts to the 

Council. 

3. At year 40, the 96 properties return, fully maintained and unencumbered with debt, to the Council. 

4. At this time the Council immediately transfers ownership of the properties to the Fund. 

We have been provided with an independent valuation for the properties, carried out by GVA, which estimates 

the current market value of the properties to be £21,700,000 (see letter “Multi Asset Housing Disposal – Best 

Consideration Assessment”, dated 26 June 2017, to Richard Simpson, Executive Director of Resources). 

We have been asked to provide advice on this proposal from the Fund’s point of view, in particular how it might 

affect the contribution strategy for the Council and possible options for allowing for the proposal with this 

strategy.   

If the Fund disagrees with any of the above, in particular the market value of the properties, then please 

contact us to review the information and advice contained in this paper. 

2.2 Croydon Council – funding position and current contribution strategy 

The most recent formal valuation of the Fund was carried out as at 31 March 2016.  The funding position for 

Croydon Council at 31 March 2016 is shown below.  For details of the data and assumptions used to calculate 

these figures please see Appendix A.   

Croydon Council 

Ongoing funding position 

31 March 2016 

£million 

Liabilities 1,038 

Assets 745 

Surplus/(deficit) (291) 

Funding level 72% 

As set out in the Fund’s Funding Strategy Statement (FSS), dated February 2017, the Council’s contribution 

strategy makes use of a “contribution stabilisation mechanism” (CSM). This mechanism allows annual changes 

to the total employer contribution rate to be limited to 1% of pay p.a.. 

At the 2016 valuation the Council contribution strategy was reviewed. It was agreed that the contribution rate 

would remain at 25.2% of pay for 2017/18 and 2018/19 and would increase by 1% of pay to 26.2% in 2019/20. 

The contribution rate would also not be reduced below 26.2% of pay for the remaining 19 year time horizon of 

the Council’s current contribution strategy. 

In addition, the Council made a £33,192,000 lump sum “prepayment” in March 2017 which served to reduce the 

contributions payable from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2020. 

Page 28



 

London Borough of Croydon Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2018 5 

Allowing for the CSM and the lump sum prepayment, the certified Council contribution rates from the 2016 

valuation were as follows: 

Croydon Council certified contribution rates 

Year ending 31 March 

Before prepayment 

(% of pay) 

As certified 

(% of pay) 

2018 25.2% 15.1% 

2019 25.2% 15.1% 

2020 26.2% 16.1% 

As set out in the Fund’s Funding Strategy Statement, these contributions target full funding on the “ongoing 

valuation” assumptions (as set out in Appendix A) over a time horizon of 22 years.  The probability of achieving 

this objective under the agreed CSM was estimated to be 73%. 

Page 29



 

London Borough of Croydon Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2018 6 

3 Possible options for Council contribution rate reduction 

We set out below four options for how the transfer could be allowed for in the Council’s contribution rate and 

funding position.  For each one we have considered the main components and include a comment on how the 

option would affect the funding strategy. In particular, we consider how it would affect the probability of the 

Council reaching its full funding target over its agreed recovery period of 22 years.  

For the avoidance of doubt we have not provided any steer or opinion on whether any of the options included 

would be preferable. Options 1 to 3 are ordered in decreasing order of prudence (from the Fund’s perspective). 

Option 4 includes an additional arrangement which reduces some of the risks inherent within option 3. 

There are several other risks and considerations not directly connected to the effect on contributions that should 

also be considered, these are summarised briefly in section 5. 

3.1 Option 1 – no allowance for property transfer 

The most prudent approach to allowing for the property transfer agreement would be to allow no contribution 

reduction until the property transfer is completed in year 40. This could be justified on the basis that the risks in 

section 5 are considered to be so significant that it is undesirable or imprudent to allow for it now.  This position 

could be revisited nearer to the transfer date when the terms and value of the transfer are more certain. 

This option has the benefits of simplicity and prudence, and would be consistent with the existing funding 

strategy because it would involve no change to the existing funding position, certified contributions or CSM. For 

this reason the probability of meeting the funding target would be unchanged. However, it could be argued that 

this approach is excessively prudent and hence leads to opportunity costs for the Council. 

3.2 Option 2 – allow for property transfer at future valuations within the existing CSM 

Under this option the existing funding strategy and CSM are left unchanged.  The Fund allows for the property 

assets in the Council’s funding position at future valuations (i.e. they are included in the property allocation of 

the Council’s assets share) and hence in its contribution rates.  The market value of the assets would need to 

be determined at each valuation date by an independent expert.  The additional assets may be enough to affect 

the stabilised contribution rate set at each subsequent valuation depending on the funding position and market 

conditions at the time.  This process would be repeated at each future valuation when the contribution strategy 

is reviewed. 

It is unlikely that this approach would result in a material contribution saving for the Council due to the size of 

the transfer compared to the Council’s assets and liabilities (the market value is equal to about 2% of the 

Council’s liabilities) and the growth seeking nature of the Fund’s investment strategy. 

This method has the advantage of requiring little additional actuarial work and of being consistent with the 

existing funding strategy. The probability of meeting the funding target at the end of the 22 year time horizon 

would be largely unchanged (there might be a slight improvement given the increased asset share).   

3.3 Option 3 – Agreed reduction in contributions alongside current CRM 

Under this option the Council’s contribution rate would be reduced immediately (perhaps using one of the 

reductions quoted in section 4.2 below).  In effect, the Fund would be ‘banking’ the value of the property assets 

now and, in return, reducing the future contributions required by the Council. 

At each subsequent valuation the reduction applied to the Council’s contribution rate would be revisited. This 

would be practical as the Council’s contribution strategy and CSM is reviewed triennially at each formal 

valuation in any case. 

Page 30



 

London Borough of Croydon Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2018 7 

Strictly speaking, the current funding strategy for the Council does not allow for any form of contribution 

reduction. Special dispensation would therefore be required if option 3 was pursued.  

In addition if a deficit was to occur in the future as a result of the Fund “missing out” on returns it would 

otherwise have achieved on the “replaced” cash contributions, it would result in an increase to the future 

contributions required from the Council. This continuous reliance on making up any potential shortfall through 

future contributions could be regarded as imprudent and inter-generationally unfair. 

Nevertheless, perhaps this approach would be acceptable on the basis that the Council has a strong covenant 

and will always exist (in some form) to make up any future deficit caused by reducing contributions now.   

3.4 Option 4 - Agreed reduction in contributions alongside current CRM and include a retrospective 

‘top-up’ mechanism 

Under option 3 the Fund would be giving up contributions of a known amount now in exchange for the transfer 

of a very uncertain value of assets in 40 years’ time.  To give the Fund comfort that it is not taking on excessive 

risk under such an arrangement, the Fund could insist on a retrospective ‘top-up’ arrangement whereby the 

Council agrees to make additional contributions to the Fund if the value of the property transfer portfolio 

increases by less than a specified amount over an agreed year time period (e.g. triennially). 

The precise details of the ‘top-up’ could be complex and would need to cover: 

 how the market value of the property portfolio should be determined (e.g. by whom and how frequently) 

 how to determine the ‘expected’ value of: 

o The property assets (e.g. by reference to a fixed assumption made at the outset or by reference 

to something else such as an index); and 

o the contributions that would have otherwise been received (e.g. by reference to an assumption 

at the outset, an assumption that is market-related or the actual fund returns received over the 

period) 

 how any ‘top-up’ payments should be made (e.g. in what timescales) 

 whether the Council should benefit if the value of the property assets increased faster than expected 

(e.g. by being allowed to keep some of the proceeds after 40 years) 

 

Provided the terms of such an agreement were acceptable to both parties, and provided the Council was able to 

afford any future required top-up payments, this option would reduce the risk to the Fund posed by option 3.  

However, it may be difficult for the Council to accept such an arrangement if it entailed a commitment to make 

unknown top-up payments based on the volatile valuation of the property assets. 

This inclusion of the retrospective ‘top up’ by the Council would also mean that special dispensation within the 

current funding strategy would not be as significant as that required in option 3. As the Council would 

periodically top up any shortfalls which might occur the probability of meeting the funding target at the end of the 

time horizon is less affected. 

3.5 Other options 

The four options above are not intended to represent an exhaustive list of all the approaches that could be 

considered.  They do, however, represent the four approaches we believe are most likely to satisfy both the 

Fund and the Council. We would be happy to consider alternative options beyond these. 

Page 31



 

London Borough of Croydon Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2018 8 

4 Possible impact of property transfer on contribution 
strategy 

Under the proposed agreement the Council will transfer ownership of property assets to the Fund in 40 years’ 

time.  Given that this is so far in the future, its impact on the Council’s contributions today is difficult to quantify 

and depends strongly on how the reduction is allowed for and what assumptions are made about the growth in 

value of the property over the time (among other things).  This section considers the scale of any reduction to 

the Council’s contribution rate that could be made under option 3 or 4 (as described above). 

In simple terms, the property assets received in 40 years’ time could serve to reduce the contributions payable 

now.  In order for the Fund to be no worse off versus the existing certified contributions due, the reduction to the 

contribution rate should be equivalent to the value of the property transfer. 

There are a number of key assumptions which will impact on the contribution reduction, including: 

 How will the property portfolio change in value over the 40 years? 

 What investment return would the replaced cash contributions otherwise have benefited from?   

4.1 Value of property portfolio at transfer date 

Any value placed on an asset in 40 years’ time is very uncertain and very sensitive to the assumed growth in 

value over that time.  To illustrate this, the table below shows how the value of the transferring property assets 

depends on the assumed rate of growth. 

The figures are based on a current value of £21.7m.  The growth rates shown are ‘real’ growth rates, i.e. growth 

in excess of long-term assumed CPI inflation. This means that the values after 40 years are more comparable 

with the current value because the effect of general price increases is stripped out.  We have assumed that the 

same growth rate applies uniformly over the 40 year period, whereas in practice the value of the portfolio would 

be expected to change by a different amount every year.  The rates shown should therefore be regarded as 

‘average’ rates over the 40 year period. 

Assumed real growth in 

property portfolio value 

(% p.a. in excess of CPI) 

Portfolio value after 

40 years 

(£m, 2016 prices) 

-3% 6.4 

-2% 9.7 

-1% 14.5 

0% 21.7 

+1% 32.3 

+2% 47.9 

+3% 70.8 

+4% 104.2 

+5% 152.8 

We do not make any judgement on the most appropriate value for the assumed real growth of the 

property assets, and the choice of values in the table above is not intended to represent what a suitable 

range of assumptions might be.  Given the long-term nature of the arrangement and the risks involved 

to the Fund, we suggest that the Fund agrees an assumption with the Council with which it is 

comfortable, within the context of these risks. To achieve this agreement, independent expert advice 

might be useful. 

Page 32



 

London Borough of Croydon Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2018 9 

4.2 Equivalent value of contributions 

To calculate the size of any reduction in contributions, we must calculate what level of contributions can be 

‘replaced’ by the transfer of property assets in 40 years’ time.  To do this we calculate what level of contributions 

has the same value after 40 years as the value of the property assets transferring at that time.  We have 

assumed that the contribution reduction will apply for 22 years from the 2016 valuation date, in line with the time 

horizon within the Council’s contribution strategy. 

To calculate the value of these 22 years of contributions at year 40, we rely on an assumption for the investment 

return achieved on the contributions over the period.  For consistency with the modelling that underpins the 

CSM, we have assumed a ‘best estimate’ real return in excess of CPI of 3.5% p.a. based on the Fund’s 

investment strategy at the 2016 valuation (see the appendix for further details). 

By equating the value of the property assets after 40 years with the value of contributions after 40 years, we can 

calculate the level of contributions that could be ‘replaced’ by the property transfer. The table below shows the 

results of the analysis in cash terms and as a percentage of pay. 

1 These contributions are assumed to increase each year in line with the assumed rate of salary increases at the 2016 valuation. The 

monetary values shown are for the first year. 

The figures in the table demonstrate how sensitive the saving is to the assumed rate of growth in the property 

assets.   

Assumed real growth in 

property portfolio value 

(% p.a. in excess of CPI) 

Portfolio value after 

40 years 

(£m, 2016 prices) 

Potential contribution reduction 

(£m, 2016 prices)1 (% of pay) 

-3% 6.4 0.1 0.1% 

-2% 9.7 0.2 0.1% 

-1% 14.5 0.2 0.2% 

0% 21.7 0.3 0.3% 

+1% 32.3 0.5 0.4% 

+2% 47.9 0.7 0.6% 

+3% 70.8 1.1 0.9% 

+4% 104.2 1.6 1.3% 

+5% 152.8 2.4 2.0% 

Page 33



 

London Borough of Croydon Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2018 10 

5 Risks and other issues to consider 

Given the unconventional and long-term nature of the proposal, it is important for the Fund (and indeed the 

Council) to consider the risks involved and the other issues (beyond pension contributions) that should be taken 

into consideration. 

Full consideration of the risks and other issues is outside the requested scope of this paper. High level comment 

is provided below: 

5.1 Risks 

The uncertainties involved in the proposal present many risks which can be broadly grouped into the following 

main categories.   

1. Legal risks - The proposal (and any side agreement affecting contributions) will involve legal 

agreements between the Fund, the Council and other parties (such as CRLLP).  Any such agreement 

carries the risk of misunderstandings that could lead to substantial problems in future. For example, lack 

of clarity in the agreement to transfer ownership of the property to the Fund after 40 years could lead to 

legal challenges in future. 

2. Regulatory risks – The LGPS has experienced many regulatory changes recently and there is no 

reason to expect that it will not experience further change, particularly over a time period as long as 40 

years.  Future changes could, for example, explicitly forbid the kind of arrangement being considered 

here and it could be complex and costly to unwind it.  We are aware that the Scheme Advisory Board, 

for example, is already discussing the use of ‘asset-backed funding’ which is similar in some ways to 

the arrangement in question here. 

 

The Fund should also consider if the long term (much longer than the Fund’s recovery period) and/or 

unconventional nature of the arrangement might attract scrutiny from the Pensions Regulator, Scheme 

Advisory Board or the Government Actuary’s Department, all of whom are now involved in oversight of 

the LGPS. 

3. Investment risks – Some of the options discussed above involve making assumptions about the future 

growth in value of the property portfolio and how this compares to the value of contributions.  It is very 

unlikely that these assumptions will be borne out in practice and the Fund must understand how it would 

be affected by this. For example, under options 3 and 4 the Fund will lose out if the value of the property 

portfolio, when transferred to the Fund, is lower than the value of contributions that would have been 

received from the Council instead (option 4 retrospectively mitigates this risk through a top-up 

payment).  The Fund may also want to take investment advice about the concentration risk of investing 

a substantial amount in relatively non-diverse and illiquid portfolio of property assets. 

4. Political risks – the Fund may wish to take advice on the suitability of investing in UK domestic 

property given that it is (and is likely to remain) a live political issue and may be subject to political 

action which would affect its value. 

5. Operation risks – the complexity of the arrangement and the number of parties potentially involved 

increases operational risk e.g. fraud or mismanagement which could adversely impact the value of the 

property portfolio when it is transferred to the Fund. 

The Fund may wish to consider how it would monitor the operational side of the arrangement e.g. 

request the Council provides regular updates including independent valuations, uses of the property 

assets, rental income, insurance protection in place, major repair work, etc. 

Page 34



 

London Borough of Croydon Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2018 11 

5.2 Other issues to consider 

The Fund should consider all of the issues involved in the arrangement beyond pensions costs, including (but 

not limited to):  

A. Conflicts of interest – The unconventional nature of the arrangement and the fact that Croydon 

Council is both the Fund’s Administering Authority and the employer involved in the arrangement leads 

to a potential conflict of interest. The Fund and the Council should take steps to ensure such a conflict is 

avoided, and that there is clear evidence to support this should it be questioned. 

B. Accounting and reporting – How will the arrangement be reflected in the Fund’s accounts and should 

it seek advice? We suggest that the Fund discusses the arrangement with its accountants and auditor. 

C. Use of the properties once transferred to the Fund – The Fund should consider what it will do with 

the property assets when it receives them, taking into account its investment strategy and any 

limitations imposed by regulation or its membership of an LGPS investment pool. 

D. Administrative and advice costs – The arrangement could entail upfront legal and advice costs and 

ongoing costs related to valuations and reporting.  There could also be significant costs involved at the 

point the assets are transferring to the Fund, e.g. transaction costs if they are sold or management 

costs if they are retained. The Fund should consider if these costs should be covered as part of the 

arrangement. 

E. Formal approval process – given the unconventional nature of the arrangement and the increased 

potential for (real or perceived) conflicts of interest and regulatory scrutiny, the Fund should ensure that 

the decision-making process is transparent and clearly documented. 

F. Details of ‘top-up’ arrangement (if applicable) – if the Fund and the Council entered into an 

agreement like the one outlined in option 4 in section 3.4 above, they would need to ensure that the 

details were clearly defined and understood by both parties.  It would also be important to ensure that 

such an agreement did not lead to excessive risk for either party.  For example, the Fund would not be 

protected from falling property values under such an arrangement if the top-up requirements on the 

Council were unaffordable. 

  

Page 35



 

London Borough of Croydon Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2018 12 

6 Suggested next steps 

We would suggest the following next steps: 

 Fund and Council to agree if and how they wish to proceed, e.g. using one of the options in this paper 

or an alternative.  

 Both parties to seek legal advice on the contracts and agreements that would need to be in place for the 

arrangement to go ahead, covering the transfer of property and any additional agreements such as the 

‘top-up’ mechanism in option 4. 

 Council to finalise the details of the proposal based on agreed arrangement with the Fund 

 Council to take the proposal to the Fund’s Pensions Committee for approval, including consideration of: 

o Timescales of implementation – e.g. from 2019 valuation or earlier? 

o Any changes to the Funding Strategy, including (if necessary) the requirement to formally revise 

the Funding Strategy Statement 

o Management and documentation of how the decision was made including how potential 

conflicts of interest have been addressed 

o Risks involved in the arrangement and how these will be monitored and mitigated 

 Inform or discuss with other interested parties e.g. the Fund’s Local Pension Board, London Collective 

Investment Vehicle, Scheme Advisory Board, etc 

We would be happy to discuss the content of this paper or provide further actuarial advice on any aspect of the 

transfer, including modelling alternative proposals. 

 

Prepared by: 

      

Robert McInroy FFA        Richard Warden FFA  

For and on behalf of Hymans Robertson LLP 

5 January 2018 

 

Page 36



 

London Borough of Croydon Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2018 13 

Appendix A – Data, assumptions and methodology 
Valuation results 

The funding position and contribution rates for the Council quoted in section 2.2 are based on the results of the 

2016 formal valuation for the Croydon Council pool. These results were based on the following data and 

assumptions. 

Membership data 31 March 2016 

Membership numbers  

Active 5,826 

Deferred 7,903 

Pensioner 6,439 

Payroll/pensions (£000 p.a.)  

Actual pay 120,369 

Accrued 80ths pension 6,166 

Accrued 60ths pension 6,746 

Accrued CARE pot 4,693 

Deferred pensions 13,080 

Pensions in payment 36,601 

Average age (years)  

Active (final salary) 53 

Active (CARE) 49 

Deferred 53 

Pensioner 68 

 

Financial assumptions 

31 March 2016 

Nominal 

% p.a. 

Real 

% p.a. 

Discount rate 4.4% 2.2% 

Salary increases1 2.7% 0.5% 

Pension increases (= CPI inflation)2 2.1% 0.0% 

1 An allowance is also made for promotional pay increases (see table in valuation report). 

2 The pension increase assumption is equal to the long term assumption for inflation as measured by the Consumer Prices Index (CPI). 

For the mortality and demographic assumptions used, and details on how the financial assumptions were 

derived, please refer to the 2016 formal valuation report for the Fund, dated 31 March 2017. 

 

Page 37



 

London Borough of Croydon Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2018 14 

Estimates of contribution rate reductions 

The figures in section 4.2 were calculated by equating the value of the property portfolio transferred to the Fund 

in 40 years’ time to the value of contributions that would have accumulated to the same value. 

The value of the property portfolio is simply equal to the current value of £21.7m, increased for 40 years at the 

given growth rate.  The value of contributions is based on the value of contributions paid over the next 22 years, 

accumulated to year 40. 

The salary growth and inflation assumptions mentioned above are all equal to the assumptions set at the 2016 

valuation (shown in the previous section).  The assumed real investment return on the property portfolio was 

varied according to the tables in section 4.2. 

The assumed real investment return on contributions is a ‘best estimate’ figure based on the Fund’s investment 

strategy and the Hymans Robertson Economic Scenario Service (ESS), a stochastic model of future potential 

economic scenarios.  The ESS is used to project a range of possible outcomes for the future behaviour of asset 

returns and economic variables.  Some of the parameters of the ESS are dependent on current market 

conditions, while other more subjective parameters do not usually change.  The key subjective assumptions 

underlying the ESS are the average level and volatility of equity prices, bond yields, credit spreads and inflation.  

The model is also affected by other more subtle effects, such as the correlations between asset classes. 

The following figures have been calculated using 5,000 simulations of the ESS, calibrated using market data as 

at 31 March 2016.  All returns are shown net of fees.  Percentiles refer to percentiles of the 5,000 simulations 

and are the annualised total returns over 5, 10 and 20 years.  Only the overall portfolio returns are shown, 

however, similar information for separate asset classes is available on request. 

  % p.a. Portfolio 
returns 

Inflation (RPI) 

    

5
 

y
e
a
rs

 16th %'ile -0.5% 1.2% 

50th %'ile 4.2% 2.6% 

84th %'ile 8.9% 4.2% 

1
0

 

y
e
a
rs

 16th %'ile 1.2% 1.4% 

50th %'ile 4.7% 2.8% 

84th %'ile 8.2% 4.5% 

2
0

 

y
e
a
rs

 16th %'ile 2.8% 1.7% 

50th %'ile 5.5% 3.0% 

84th %'ile 8.4% 4.4% 

 
Volatility (1 year) 10% 1.4% 

 

Using the ESS and the Fund’s investment strategy, the ‘best estimate’ return over 20 years is estimated to be 

5.5% p.a. in nominal terms.  This can be seen above as the 50th percentile portfolio return over 20 years (50th 

percentile means it is the median value, i.e. half of the modelled returns are higher than this and half are lower).  

The equivalent best estimate for RPI inflation is 3.0% p.a. and since the assumed gap between RPI and CPI 

inflation is 1% p.a., the best estimate assumption for CPI inflation is 2.0% p.a.. This leads to the best estimate 

assumption for the real return in excess of CPI of 3.5% p.a.. 

Page 38



 

London Borough of Croydon Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2018 15 

Appendix B – Reliances and limitations 
This report is addressed to Croydon Council in its role as Administering Authority to the London Borough of 

Croydon Pension Fund. It should not be shared with any third parties without our prior written consent. Where 

consent is given, the report should be supplied in full including any related reliances and limitations. 

Please note that Hymans Robertson LLP accept no liability to any third parties. The reliances and limitations 

apply equally to all users of this report. 

This report complies (where relevant and to a proportional degree) with the Technical Actuarial Standards set 

out below:  

 TAS 100; and 

 TAS 300 

It should be noted that this report does not comply with paragraph 12 of TAS 300. We do not believe the 

exclusion of the information required under this paragraph is material for the purposes of this advice. 

This report together with the 2016 formal valuation report for the Fund (issued 31 March 2017), the asset-liability 

modelling carried out as part of the 2016 valuation (results issued September 2016) and the Fund’s FSS set out 

the aggregate of our advice.  

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



LPB 10012019

Croydon Council

REPORT TO: Local Pension Board
10 January 2019

SUBJECT: Review of Key Policy Documents

LEAD OFFICER: Nigel Cook Head of Pensions and Treasury

CORPORATE PRIORITY/POLICY CONTEXT: 
Sound Financial Management: The Pension Board functions to support the 
administration of the Local Government Pension Scheme.  One aspect of this support 
is to consider and update where required the policy documents drafted to ensure good 
governance arrangements are in place and are observed. 

FINANCIAL SUMMARY:
This proposal may have implications for the administration of the Scheme.  Poor 
governance arrangements will result in financial implications for the Council as 
scheme administrators. 

1. RECOMMENDATIONS

1.1 The Board is invited to consider this report by the Pension Committee, in 
particular whether, as the Pension Committee has invited it to consider, it is 
appropriate to adopt the review of these policy documents as part of the 
Board’s Forward Plan of work. 

Page 41

Agenda Item 7



LPB 10012019

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

2.1 This report specifies seven policy documents that could be periodically be 
reviewed by the Pensions Board as part of its forward Business Plan.  The Pension 
Committee have proposed this option as a way of managing workloads more 
effectively.   The Board is asked to consider this invitation.

3 DETAIL

3.1 The Local Pensions Board supports the Scheme Administrator (the Executive 
Director of Resources) and hence the Pensions Committee by considering a 
number of issues.  These include:

• Review of strategy and policy documents such as the Funding Strategy 
Statement and Investment Strategy Statement;

• Key Performance Indicators;
• Engagement with stakeholders;
• ESG (Ethical, Social and Governance) and voting matters;
• Assessment of the performance of professional advisors;
• Consideration of Myners principles; and
• Matters relating to fees.

3.2 Good governance suggests that the administering authority periodically reviews 
key policy documents to ensure that they remain fit for purpose.  When most 
recently reviewing its business plan the Pensions Committee discussed whether 
the Pensions Board could review certain policy documents and if appropriate, flag 
up any areas for revision that the Committee could then deliberate upon.  These 
policies include, but are not limited to:

• Discretion’s policy for the Council;
• Cessation Policy;
• Communications Policy; 
• Internal Disputes Resolution Policy;
• Reporting Breaches of the Law policy;
• Administration Strategy; and
• Conflicts of Interest Policy (for the Pensions Board).

3.3 The Policy Statement of Exercise of Discretionary Powers covers the most 
frequently used discretionary powers available to the administering authority.  
These powers are adopted by a meeting of the full Council.  The regulations allow 
for a number of discretions such as whether to waive, on compassionate grounds 
the actuarial reduction applied to deferred benefits paid early; whether to grant an 
application for early payment of suspended tier 3 ill health pension on or after age 
55 and before age 60; and whether to “switch on” the 85 year rule for a member 
voluntarily drawing benefits on or after 55 and before age 60.

3.4 The Council’s cessation policy refers to the approach taken by the Council when 
Admission Agreements end, either naturally, at the end of the contract term, or 
when a breach occurs.  This policy is significant because it deals with matters such 

Page 42



LPB 10012019

as termination valuations which often relate to significant cash sums.  The 
cessation policy is set out in each individual admission agreement.

3.5 The Communications Policy sets out the mechanisms which are used to meet the 
communication needs of the various groups considered stakeholders in the 
Scheme to make sure that they are kept informed of developments within the 
Pension Fund.  The policy aims to ensure transparency and an effective 
communication process to help maintain the efficient running of the Scheme.

3.6 The Internal Disputes Resolution Policy is a two-stage procedure that operates if 
disputes cannot be resolved by discussion with the administration team.  It refers 
Scheme members to options beyond this internal mechanism and these comprise 
the Pensions Advisory Service and the Pensions Ombudsman. 

3.7 The Reporting Breaches of the Law policy covers the Pensions Committee, 
Pensions Board and officers of the Council.  Identifying and assessing a breach of 
law is important in reducing risk and providing an early warning of possible 
malpractice.  Those people with a responsibility to report breaches, including 
Scheme Managers and Board members should establish and operate appropriate 
and effective procedures to ensure that they are able to meet their legal 
obligations.  Procedures should enable people to raise concerns and facilitate the 
objective consideration of those matters. 

3.8 The Administration Strategy is fundamental to the relationship between the 
Scheme administration and the stakeholders.  The delivery of a high quality 
administration service involves the joint working of a number of different parties.  
The pension administration strategy statement of the London Borough of Croydon 
Pension Fund, administered by Croydon Council (the administering authority) was 
developed following consultation with employers in the Pension Fund.  The aim of 
the strategy statement is to set out the quality and performance standards 
expected of Borough of Croydon Council in its role of administering authority and 
scheme employer, as well as all other scheme employers within the London 
Borough of Croydon Pension Fund.  It seeks to promote good working 
relationships, improve efficiency and enforce quality amongst the scheme 
employers and the administering authority.

3.9 Finally, the Conflicts of Interest Policy (for the Pensions Board).  The members of 
the Pensions Committee are covered by the Council’s Conflict of Interest Policy 
which is a separate document.  Ensuring that conflicts of interest are properly 
managed is a key consideration to make sure that sound governance principles 
are followed.  Whilst members of the Board may be subject to other general legal 
requirements, when exercising functions as a member of the Board, the Pensions 
Regulator expects the requirements which specifically apply by virtue of the 2013 
Act to be met and the standards of conduct and practice set out in its Code of 
Practice to be complied with.  This Policy sets out how this should happen.

3.10 The Pension Committee considered, when it most recently reviewed the 
Committee Forward Business Plan, whether these items could not be subject to 
evaluation by the Pensions Board.  As the Board operates to support the Scheme 
Administrator the Committee discussed whether this support could include an 
appraisal of these policy documents and to flag any areas of concern or matters 

Page 43



LPB 10012019

that the Committee should focus its attention on which could then be incorporated 
into the Committee’s Business Plan. 

 
3.11 The Board is therefore invited by the Pension Committee to consider whether it 

should adopt this exercise as part of its forward plan of work.

4 FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

4.1 There are no direct financial implications for this report. 

5. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 

5.1 Other than the considerations referred to above, there are no customer Focus, 
Equalities, Environment and Design, Crime and Disorder or Human Rights 
considerations arising from this report

CONTACT OFFICER:  

Nigel Cook, Head of Pensions Investment and Treasury, 
Resources department, ext. 62552.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:

None

Page 44



LPB 10012019

Croydon Council

REPORT TO: Local Pension Board
10 January 2019

SUBJECT: LGPS Governance Updates

LEAD OFFICER: Nigel Cook Head of Pensions and Treasury

CORPORATE PRIORITY/POLICY CONTEXT: 
Sound Financial Management: The Pension Board assists with ensuring the 
effective administration of the Local Government Pension.  This report highlights 
various issues that impact on that administration.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY:
There are no direct financial consequences to these issues.

1. RECOMMENDATIONS

1.1 The Board is asked to note the contents of this report.

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

2.1 This report deals with various issues being considered by the LGPS Scheme 
Advisory Board, including annual statistics relating to the LGPS; the Cost Cap; the 
separation project; the Code of Transparency; Responsible Investment Guidance; 
new regulations; the potential cost of the Guaranteed Minimum Pension exercise; 
and the impact of Brexit.

3 DETAIL

3.1 The LGPS Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) exists to guide the administration of the 
LGPS by considering various issues of interest to LGPS members.  It publishes 
guidance, conducts surveys and undertakes detailed work that individual schemes 
cannot resource.  It reports directly to the Secretary of State on these matters and 
consideration of the overall affordability of the Scheme.  The SAB provides a 
valuable source of information for all stakeholders.

3.2 In October the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government published 
Local government pension scheme funds for England and Wales: 2017 to 2018 
statistics.  Highlights include:

• Total Local Government Pension Scheme expenditure in England and Wales 
in 2017/2018 was £12.7 billion.  Removing the effect of mergers and large 

Page 45

Agenda Item 8



LPB 10012019

transfers in 2016/2017 and 2017/2018 there was a like-for-like increase of £0.8 
billion or 7.4% on 2016-2017.

• Total Local Government Pension Scheme income in England and Wales in 
2017/2018 was £17.4 billion.  Removing the effect of mergers and large 
transfers in 2016/2017 and 2017/2018, there was a like-for-like increase of £3.0 
billion or 21.4% on 2016/2017.  This is mainly due to an increase in Employers’ 
contributions in 2017/2018.

• Employers’ Contributions to the Local Government Pension Scheme in 
2017/2018 in England and Wales amounted to £9.5 billion, up 27.7% on 
2016/2017, and employees’ contributions to the scheme were £2.1 billion.  
Employers’ Contributions increased due to some large upfront pension 
contribution payments (deficit contributions) being made by some employers 
and higher contribution rates following the triennial valuation.  This may be 
particularly interesting to the Board as this is an approach that the Croydon 
Scheme adopted at the most recent valuation.

• The market value of the Local Government Pension Scheme funds in England 
and Wales at the end of March 2018 was £270.9 billion, an increase of £12.1 
billion or 4.7%.  This statistic is also noteworthy as, with the caveat that 
valuation methodologies might not necessarily be comparable, the Croydon 
Fund returned 3.85% for the financial year 2017/2018.  The impact of the slump 
in the equities markets is clearly evident in these results.

• The Local Government Pension Scheme in England and Wales encompassed 
5.8 million people at the end of March 2018.  Of this number, 2.0 million are 
employees who are still contributing to the scheme, 1.7 million are pensioners 
and 2.1 million are former employees who are entitled to a pension at some 
time in the future.

• The number of people leaving the Local Government Pension Scheme in 
2017/2018 due to redundancy reduced by 19.9% from 2016/2017 to 10,847.  A 
number of funds reported there were special redundancy exercises or 
restructuring in 2016/2017 and that the large reduction in 2017/2018 was a 
consequence of that.

3.3 Several of the SAB’s ongoing work streams are of interest.

3.4 The potential for a Cost Cap was introduced in April 2015.  For the LGPS, 
employer rates are set by local fund valuations (next in 2019) but the cost cap 
mechanism does potentially impact.  Based on work undertaken by the Board’s 
actuarial adviser, the total cost of the scheme in aggregate and nationwide 
(employer and employee) under the Board’s process is 19% against a target total 
scheme cost of 19.5%.  The SAB has agreed to develop a package of benefit 
changes to return the scheme to its total target cost of 19.5% while also looking at 
employee contributions at the lower end.  The resultant package will be put to the 
full Board for agreement as soon as possible to ensure that scheme changes are 
on the statute book by April 2019.

3.5 The Separation project is exploring options to help and assist with the successful 
management of potential conflict of interests arising between a pension fund and 
its parent local authority.  Three bids have been received for this project to assess 
the practical steps that would need to be taken to implement the SAB’s proposals.

3.6 The Board has invited bidders to express interest in a piece of work to develop a 
Compliance system in respect of the Code of transparency.  This is to address 

Page 46



LPB 10012019

concerns about the level of transparency with reference to fund manager fees and 
in particular disclosure and comparability.

3.7 The Board has prepared a final draft of the Responsible Investment Guidance, 
reflecting recent government thinking around ESG considerations including 
climate risk.  On 7 November the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) launched the 
Cost Transparency Initiative (the CTI).  The CTI is an independent group working 
to improve cost transparency for institutional investors with the responsibility for 
progressing the work already undertaken by the Institutional Disclosure Working 
Group (IDWG).  The CTI is supported by Pensions and Lifetime Savings 
Association (PLSA), Investment Association (IA) and Local Government Pension 
Scheme Advisory Board (LGPS SAB) and was recommended as part of the 
IDWG’s report to the FCA on 15 June 2018.  The IDWG was set up to support 
consistent and standardised disclosure of costs and charges to institutional 
investors.  The FCA also want to see more consistent and standardised disclosure 
of costs and charges to institutional investors.  Their view is that a standardised 
disclosure template should provide institutional investors with a clearer 
understanding of the costs and charges for a given fund or mandate.  This should 
allow investors to compare charges between providers and give them a clear 
expectation of the disclosure they can expect

3.6 The Chair of the Board, has written to the Chief Executive at the Pensions 
Regulator, expressing concerns about the burdens being imposed by the 
Regulator on individual administering authorities.  This letter is appended to this 
report.  In summary the Board notes the additional burdens facing administration 
teams, including the introduction of the CARE scheme.  They point out that 
comparisons with other public sector schemes is unfair and fails to reflect the 
unique position of the LGPS as a locally administered, multi-employer, funded 
pension scheme.  The point of the intervention is to express concerns about formal 
action, including fines, being considered against individual LGPS scheme 
managers.

3.7 The LGPS (England and Wales) (Miscellaneous Regulations) Regulations 2018 
comes into force from 10 January 2019.  These regulations empower the 
Secretary of State to issue guidance for the administration and management of 
the Scheme.  There are also amendments to the regulations relating to 
entitlements for deferred members to draw their benefits and to the status of civil 
partnerships and same sex marriages to align these with the benefits for widows.

3.8 For some period of time the administration team has been focussing on the 
Guaranteed Minimum Pensions exercise (GMP).  The GMP represents the 
minimum pension an occupational pension scheme must provide a scheme 
member as an alternative to the State Earnings Related Pension Scheme 
(SERPS).  This is a complex area and it is not the intention of this report to 
comment on the process.  However, following a High Court ruling and the 
extension of the deadline to complete this exercise, the Scheme Actuary has 
advised this authority that the 2019 valuation will most likely reflect an increase in 
liabilities as a result of the scheme paying in full FMP increases for all members 
with a State Pension Age after 2016.  This is estimated at 0.5% of liabilities.

3.9 Finally, although the uncertainty around Brexit means that effective contingency 
planning is difficult, HM Treasury has updated guidance that raises concerns.  If 

Page 47



LPB 10012019

the UK, through a no deal exit, loses authorisation in the EU, because the EU 
decides the UK’s regulatory regime no longer meets the EU’s standards, then 
payments may not be able to be made to bank accounts held in EU states.  This 
would cause potential difficulties for those pensioners who reside and have a bank 
account in an EU country.

3.10 At the time of writing it appears that all Croydon LGPS pensions are paid into bank 
accounts with a UK bank sorting code in sterling (GBP £).  However it is impossible 
to tell if any scheme members have arrangements with their banks whereby funds 
are then transferred to bank accounts held in other EU states, Eire or Spain, for 
instance.  The risk, in these cases, is that funds transfers might take longer than 
previously, that there might be a charge for doing this, and that charges to convert 
into Euros might be higher.

4 FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

4.1 The financial considerations are set out in detail, above, in this report.

5. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 

5.1 Other than the considerations referred to above, there are no customer Focus, 
Equalities, Environment and Design, Crime and Disorder or Human Rights 
considerations arising from this report

CONTACT OFFICER:  

Nigel Cook, Head of Pensions Investment and Treasury, 
Resources department, ext. 62552.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:

None

Appendices

Appendix A: Letter from the Scheme Advisory Board to the Pensions Regulator.

Page 48



Local Government Pension Scheme 

Scheme Advisory Board 

Scheme Advisory Board Secretariat  
Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ T 020 7187 7344 E liam.robson@local.gov.uk 
www.lgpsboard.org 

 

 
 

Lesley Titcomb 
Chief Executive 
The Pensions Regulator 
Napier House 
Trafalgar Place 
Brighton 
BN1 4DW 
 
28 November 2018  
 
 
 
 
Local Government Pension Scheme: Scheme Advisory Board 
 
I am writing to you as Chair of the Local Government Pension Scheme Advisory 
Board in England and Wales. 
 
The Board was established under the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 to both 
advise the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government on 
the desirability of changes to the regulations governing the scheme and LGPS 
administering authorities on improving scheme governance and administration.  
 
The Board’s work is supported by two committees, one on Investment, Governance 
and Engagement and the other on Cost Management, Benefit Design and 
Administration. Full details of the Board and committees can be found at 
www.lgpsboard.org. 
 
An important feature of the Board’s work in recent times has been to work with 
scheme stakeholders alongside your public service pension’s team to improve the 
quality of scheme data and record keeping to best practice standards and help to 
ensure that scheme managers in the LGPS are able to comply with the relevant 
codes of practice. The Board is clear that it wants to work in partnership with you to 
deliver improvements in scheme governance and administration.  
 
 The Board fully appreciates the need for LGPS scheme managers to attain these 
standards but at the same time, it has to be recognised that they are often facing 
serious difficulty in fulfilling all their statutory responsibilities to the highest possible 
standard against financial constraints and stringent recruitment and retention 
policies.  
 
Scheme managers are also having to come to terms with a scheme that is more 
complex than it has been in the past given the different dynamics of the CARE 
scheme introduced in April 2014 and the need to maintain at the same time two 
different sets of final salary records under the protection afforded by section 20 of the 
Public Service Pensions Act 2013.  
 

Page 49

http://www.lgpsboard.org/


Local Government Pension Scheme 

Scheme Advisory Board 

Scheme Advisory Board Secretariat  
Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ T 020 7187 7344 E liam.robson@local.gov.uk 
www.lgpsboard.org 

 

Notwithstanding these difficulties, the Board is clear that the overwhelming majority 
of administering authorities have been taking steps to improve the quality of their 
data and record keeping and are making significant progress towards achieving the 
prescribed standards. Early indications from this year’s administration and 
governance returns are that significant improvements continue to be made and there 
is nothing to suggest that further improvements will not continue to be achieved over 
time. I would therefore hope that you would agree to work jointly with us in 
communicating any lessons learnt from your engagement with a selected number of 
LGPS administering authorities to the scheme as a whole. We see this as an 
alternative to enforcement action against any of the selected funds that you consider 
to be non-compliant with your codes of practice. The Board is clear that the threat of 
enforcement action would not be helpful in creating an environment where 
administering authorities can be fully open and willing to resolve any shortcomings 
identified by your casework teams.  
 
Outside of the current one-to-one programme, it has been reported that progress 
within the LGPS is lagging behind other cohorts. But such conclusions do not in the 
Board’s view reflect the unique position of the LGPS as a locally administered, multi-
employer, funded pension scheme.  To borrow the fruit analogy, we take the view 
that apples are not being compared with apples in this case.  
 
Against the good progress that we believe is being made, the Board is disappointed 
to learn of cases where formal action is being considered against individual LGPS 
scheme managers with the imposition of fines being a real possibility. The Board 
fully accepts that the Pensions Regulator has a clear responsibility to apply the 
enforcement powers conferred by the various Pensions Acts in appropriate cases 
and we are certainly not questioning the right for these powers to be exercised 
where warranted.  However, having identified the LGPS as the most at risk public 
service pension scheme, the timing of individual enforcement action would appear to 
sit uncomfortably with the wider one-to-one engagement you are presently 
undertaking with a number of LGPS scheme managers where positive engagement 
is being encouraged.    
 
The Board would also like to draw your attention to the work it is undertaking to 
address some of the concerns raised by academy employers in the scheme, in 
particular, the introduction of a standard monthly data extract that we believe will 
greatly assist both scheme employers and administering authorities to improve the 
quality of data and record keeping. Once agreed, we will also be recommending to 
Ministers at MHCLG that the standard data extract should be adopted as a kite mark 
standard for payroll providers. The current proliferation of payroll providers of varying 
quality is a major obstacle to administering authorities receiving prompt and accurate 
data from scheme employers on a consistent basis. This is just one example of the 
work the Board is undertaking to improve scheme data and record keeping. If we are 
to succeed, it is essential that we maintain the goodwill of scheme stakeholders in 
taking this important work forward.   
 
 
On behalf of the Board, I would therefore ask that consideration is given to deferring 
any direct action or financial penalties against individual scheme managers until both 

Page 50



Local Government Pension Scheme 

Scheme Advisory Board 

Scheme Advisory Board Secretariat  
Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ T 020 7187 7344 E liam.robson@local.gov.uk 
www.lgpsboard.org 

 

the results of the one-to-one engagement and 2017/18 administration and 
governance survey are known. We will then all be in a far better position to assess 
the quality of data and record keeping across both the scheme as a whole and with 
individual scheme managers and to take stock of cases where remedial action is 
required.  
 
I and my Board members would of course be very happy to discuss our concerns 
with you in more detail if you think that would helpful.  
 
I am sending a copy of this letter to Rishi Sunak, the local government Minister, 
given his responsibilities for the Local Government Pension Scheme in England and 
Wales.  
 
 
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
 
 
Cllr Roger Phillips 
Chair of the Board 
 
 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



LPB 10012019

Croydon Council

REPORT TO: Local Pension Board
10 January 2019

SUBJECT: Update on the London CIV

LEAD OFFICER: Nigel Cook Head of Pensions and Treasury

CORPORATE PRIORITY/POLICY CONTEXT: 
Sound Financial Management: The Pension Committee is responsible for the 
investment strategy for the Pension Fund and ultimately for ensuring sufficient assets 
are available to meet the liabilities of the Local Government Pension Scheme.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY:
The governance arrangements in place for the London CIV potentially have significant 
implications for the Council and the Pension Fund. 

1. RECOMMENDATIONS

1.1 To note the content of this report.

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

2.1 This report provides the Board with an update on progress towards fulfilling the 
Pension Fund’s commitment to invest through the London CIV as part of the 
regional pooling agenda.

3 DETAIL

3.1 The Pensions Committee have taken a decision to invest part of the Pension Fund 
allocation to global equities, currently 51% or £633.6 million at 30th September 
2018, into an Emerging Market Fund.  After some discussion it was decided to 
invest this sum in a sub-fund within the London CIV managed by Janus 
Henderson.  The Committee had decided to transfer £55 million.

3.2 Subsequently, the Committee decided to transfer more of the equity overweight 
balance, some £80 million, from equities into the Global Bond Fund.

3.3 Earlier the equity component of the Fund, managed by LGIM, had been transferred 
into a fund that sits within the pooling umbrella but is not managed by the CIV.  

Page 53

Agenda Item 9



LPB 10012019

This scores against the Council’s commitment to the regional pooling agenda.  
Together with the two items mentioned above the Croydon Fund is effectively 51% 
pooled (as at 30th September valuations).

3.4 For the Emerging Market transition, in order to ensure the integrity of this 
transaction and measure the costs involved, Inalytics, a consultancy specialising 
in transition oversight, were retained.  Their presence throughout the process 
ensured that the Council’s objectives were being met and the sum involved was 
protected during the transition. 

3.5 In summary, there are three components to the costs associated with this exercise: 
costs relating to LGIM, managers of the donor fund; opportunity costs arising from 
being out of the market; and costs relating to the receiving fund.  These are 
summarised here:

Table 1 Costs of Transition

Custody Charges £ 3,552.00

LGIM Fund Spreads £ 32,865.41

Anti-Dilution Levy £ 191,828.58

Total £228,245.99

3.6 Custody costs arise from switching stock out of the Developed World ex. Tobacco 
Fund for units in the main index funds.  This strategy was adopted because these 
larger index funds are considerably more liquid and see more cash inflows.  This 
helped reduce transaction costs and increased the chance of crossing the outflow 
with another investor’s inflow to reduce spread, which would not be possible in the 
smaller fund.

3.7 The second item in the table refers to the spreads paid for redeeming from the 
LGIM funds.  The third item is the 35 basis point anti-dilution levy paid on the two 
investments into the LCIV fund.

3.8 The LGIM costs came in lower than the initial fee estimate.  The dilution levy is as 
expected at 35 basis points.

3.9 Inalytics were also commissioned to provide oversight for the Equities to Global 
Bonds transition but at the time of drafting no information about fees and charges 
was available.

3.10 This transition was in two parts.  The first, comprising £14 million, was funded by 
selling units in the LGIM equity fund, in order to launch the London CIV’s Global 
Bond Fund.  This fund is managed by PIMCO and was launched with a seed 
investment of £100 million, the balance being provided by London Borough of 
Bexley.  The Fund was launched on 30th November 2018.  The balance, an 
additional £66 million, was financing in the same manner.

3.11 The lack of a transitioning team within the London CIV was apparent throughout 
this process.  Both transitions involved significant sums being held as cash for a 
number of days and therefore out of market.  In the case of the Emerging Market 

Page 54



LPB 10012019

investment the market fell so more units were purchased.  However the risk of 
being exposed to this level of volatility is significant and could be avoided by the 
use of derivatives to synthetically replicate investment positions.  Cross-trading, 
another widely used transitioning option, was not available.  Finally there may also 
be risks involved with co-mingling funds within the London CIV’s bank account as 
opposed to using a separate custodian account.

4 FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

4.1 The financial considerations are set out in detail, above, in this report.

5. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 

5.1 Other than the considerations referred to above, there are no customer Focus, 
Equalities, Environment and Design, Crime and Disorder or Human Rights 
considerations arising from this report

CONTACT OFFICER:  

Nigel Cook, Head of Pensions Investment and Treasury, 
Resources department, ext. 62552.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:

None

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



LPB 10012019

Croydon Council

REPORT TO: Local Pension Board
10 January 2019

SUBJECT: Review of Training

LEAD OFFICER: Nigel Cook Head of Pensions and Treasury

CORPORATE PRIORITY/POLICY CONTEXT: 
Sound Financial Management: The Pension Board is committed to maintaining a 
comprehensive training programme in order to effectively support the work of the 
scheme administrator. 

FINANCIAL SUMMARY:
There is no direct financial dimension to this report.

1. RECOMMENDATIONS

1.1 To note the training programme delivered to the Pension Board to date; 
1.2 To put forward any suggestions for areas of future training; and 
1.3 Request that Members update their personal training logs.

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

2.1 This report provides the Board with a record of the training undertaken since the 
Board was established.

3 DETAIL

3.1 As a result of changes to governance arrangements to pension schemes in the 
public sector, the Croydon Council as an administering authority for the LGPS is 
required to have in place a local pension board.  The Board was established April 
2015.  The role of the Board is to ensure the Croydon pension fund complies with 
all the legislative requirements and to make sure the scheme is being effectively 
and efficiently governed and administered.  To comply with requirements imposed 
by regulations which are enforced by the Pensions Regulator, the members of the 
Local Pension Board are required to have the relevant experience and be available 
to attend meetings.  In order to do this they must undertake training to maintain 
their knowledge and understanding of the LGPS and pensions in general. 

3.2 The requirement for Knowledge and Skills is set out in the Pensions Board Terms 
of Reference and are reproduced here:

Page 57

Agenda Item 10



LPB 10012019

12.  Knowledge and Skills
12.1. Employer and Member Representatives (including substitutes) of the LPB 

must be conversant with –
a. The legislation, Scheme Regulations and associated guidance of the 
LGPS;
b. Any document recording policy about the administration of the LGPS 
(which is for the time being adopted by the Fund).

12.2. All members of the LPB must have a working knowledge and understanding 
of –

a. The law relating to pensions, and
b. Any other matters which are prescribed in Scheme Regulations.

12.3. It is for the Scheme Manager to be satisfied that those seeking to be 
appointed have the appropriate degree of knowledge and understanding to 
enable them to properly exercise their functions as a member of the LPB.

12.4. In line with the duties under their role, the LPB members are required to be 
able to demonstrate their knowledge and understanding and to refresh and 
keep their knowledge up to date on anything that would fall within the remit 
of their role. LPB members are therefore required to maintain a written 
record of all relevant training and development (whether internal or external) 
they have undertaken. In the event that LPB members wish to attend an 
external course/training event prior approval must be sought from the 
Scheme Manager. All information in relation to training and development of 
all LPB members shall be made available to the Board as part of the Board 
Review Process. In addition, the Scheme Manager may, at any time request 
to inspect such records upon providing the relevant member with a written 
request which must be adhered to within 7 days of receipt of such a request.

12.5. All LPB members will undertake an annual personal training needs analysis 
and regularly review their skills, competencies and knowledge to identify 
gaps or weaknesses as well as mandatory training that the Board or 
Scheme Manager considers is required to ensure the Board operates as 
effectively as possible. LPB members will comply with the Scheme 
Manager’s training policy, details of which are found in the separate 
document titled “Local Pension Board Training Policy”.

3.3 This report provides the Board with a summary of the training undertaken since 
the Board was established.

April 2015 to March 2016
3.4 10 June 2015 Initial Hymans Training, an introduction to the Board.

8 October 2015 Training on Asset Allocation
October to December 2015 LGE Fundamentals Course, (3 days)
7 January 2016 Training on Benefit Structure

April 2016 to March 2017
3.5 21 April 2016 Training on the work of the LAPFF

7 June 2016 Actuarial Valuation Training
I December 2016 Actuarial Valuation Training

Page 58



LPB 10012019

April 2017 to March 2018
3.6

October to December 2017 LGE Fundamentals Course (3 days)

April 2018 to date
3.7 . Pension Regulator's Trustee Toolkit Modules

17 September /18 In-house training on Pension Investment 

3.8 This summary shows only the training that has been arranged or facilitated for the 
Board.  Throughout this period members of the Board have attended a number of 
conferences and seminars that have been organised to support Pension Boards 
and members have attended events in their other capacities, all of which is 
captured by their individual personal training logs.

4 FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

4.1 The financial considerations are set out in detail, above, in this report.

5. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 

5.1 Other than the considerations referred to above, there are no customer Focus, 
Equalities, Environment and Design, Crime and Disorder or Human Rights 
considerations arising from this report

CONTACT OFFICER:  

Nigel Cook, Head of Pensions Investment and Treasury, 
Resources department, ext. 62552.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:

None

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 61

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 65

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 69

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 73

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	6 Asset transfer
	Pen Com 211118 Property Transfer Rpt FINAL, 21/11/2018 Pension Committee
	Pen Com 211118 App A Property Transfer Rpt - June 2018 Rpt, 21/11/2018 Pension Committee
	Pen Com 211118 App B Property Transfer Rpt - Hymans.docx, 21/11/2018 Pension Committee

	7 Forward plan
	8 Scheme Advisory Board Horizon Scanning
	Letter_sent_to_tPR_26112018

	9 London CIV update
	10 Training review
	12 Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Part B)
	13 Asset transfer (Part B)
	Pen Com 211118 App C -  EXEMPT Eversheds advice, 21/11/2018 Pension Committee
	Richard Simpson Letter 151118 VER 4 PDF


